DIXIE GROUP INC Form 10-Q			
August 11, 2011			
UNITED STATES			
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMM	MISSION		
Washington, D.C. 20549 Fo	rm 10-Q		
(Mark One)	····· ··· X		
R QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUAN OF 1934	T TO SECT	'ION 13 OR	15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
For the quarterly period ended July 2, 201 OR	.1		
o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUAN OF 1934	Г ТО ЅЕСТІ	ION 13 OR	15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
For the transition period from	to		
Commission File Number: 0-2585			
THE DIXIE GROUP, INC.			
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in Tennessee	its charter)		62-0183370
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporatio	n or		
organization)			(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
104 Nowlin Lane, Suite 101, Chattanooga	a, TN 37	7421	(423) 510-7000
(Address of principal executive offices)	(z	zip code)	(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Not Applicable

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. R Yes o No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). R Yes o No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definition of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

o Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer 0 Non-accelerated filer (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) R Smaller reporting company 0

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.) o Yes R No

The number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of Common Stock as of the latest practicable date.

Class Common Stock, \$3 Par Value Class B Common Stock, \$3 Par Value Class C Common Stock, \$3 Par Value Outstanding as of July 25, 2011 12,023,839 shares 882,644 shares 0 shares

1

THE DIXI	E GROUP, INC.	
INDEX TO	QUARTERLY FINANCIAL REPORT	
Table of Co	ontents	
PART I. F	INANCIAL INFORMATION	Page
Item 1.	Financial Statements	<u>3</u>
	Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets - July 2, 2011 and December 25, 2010	<u>3</u>
	Consolidated Condensed Statements of Operations - Three and Six Months Ended July 2.	<u>4</u>
	<u>2011 and June 26, 2010</u>	Ŧ
	Consolidated Condensed Statements of Cash Flows - Six Months Ended July 2, 2011 and	<u>5</u>
	<u>June 26, 2010</u>	
	Notes to Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements	<u>6</u>
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition	<u>17</u>
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	<u>21</u>
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	<u>21</u>
PART II. C	OTHER INFORMATION	
	Legal Proceedings	<u>22</u>
	Risk Factors	<u>22</u>
	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	<u>23</u>
	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	<u>23</u>
	(Removed and Reserved)	<u>23</u>
Item 5.	Other information	<u>24</u>
Item 6.	Exhibits	<u>24</u>
	~.	
	Signatures	<u>24</u>

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS		
(dollars in thousands, except share data) ASSETS CURRENT ASSETS	July 2, 2011 (Unaudited)	December 25, 2010
Correction	\$151	\$244
Receivables (less allowance for doubtful accounts of \$577 for 2011 and \$466 for 2010)	30,545	28,550
Inventories	68,753	58,289
Deferred income taxes	5,198	5,527
Other current assets	3,679	1,416
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS	108,326	94,026
TOTAL CORRECT AUGETS	100,520	74,020
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	179,414	178,019
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	(111,809)	(107,773)
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT	67,605	70,246
OTHER ASSETS	14,291	13,830
TOTAL ASSETS	\$190,222	\$178,102
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
CURRENT LIABILITIES		
Accounts payable	\$15,994	\$11,939
Accrued expenses	18,235	18,446
Current portion of long-term debt	13,270	7,145
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES	47,499	37,530
LONG-TERM DEBT		
Senior indebtedness	58,551	47,876
Capital lease obligations	455	532
Convertible subordinated debentures	—	9,662
TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT	59,006	58,070
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES	4,962	4,759
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES	14,193	15,313
TOTAL LIABILITIES	125,660	115,672
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES	_	_
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Common Stock (\$3 par value per share): Authorized 80,000,000 shares, issued - 15,998,937 shares for 2011 and 15,922,480 shares for 2010	47,997	47,767
Class B Common Stock (\$3 par value per share): Authorized 16,000,000 shares, issued - 882,644 shares for 2011 and 867,761 shares for 2010	2,648	2,604
Additional paid-in capital	137,827	137,235
Accumulated deficit	(65,360)	(66,750)
	/	,

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	(28 123,084)	(31 120,825)
Less Common Stock in treasury at cost - 3,975,098 shares for 2011 and 3,947,327 shares for 2010	(58,522)	(58,395)
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	64,562		62,430	
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	\$190,222		\$178,102	
See accompanying notes to the consolidated condensed financial stateme	ents.			

Table of Contents

3

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data)

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)							
	Three Months Ended			Six Months	Ended		
	July 2, June 26,		July 2,	June 26,			
	2011		2010		2011	2010	
NET SALES	\$69,200		\$59,058		\$135,154	\$109,51	2
Cost of sales	52,477		43,821		101,861	81,922	
GROSS PROFIT	16,723		15,237		33,293	27,590	
Selling and administrative expenses	14,944		15,026		30,337	29,384	
Other operating income	(55)	(61)	(629)	(120)
Other operating expense	97		91		179	220	
Facility consolidation and severance expenses, net	(563)	122		(563)	333	
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)	2,300		59		3,969	(2,227)
Interest expense	900		1,082		1,832	2,317	
Other income	(8)	(10)	(32)	(22)
Other expense	18		307		26	317	
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS	1 200		(1.220)	``	0 1 4 2	(4.020	``
BEFORE TAXES	1,390		(1,320)	2,143	(4,839)
Income tax provision (benefit)	582		(636)	691	(1,696)
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS	808		(684)	1,452	(3,143)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax	(42)	(60)	(62)	(130)
NET INCOME (LOSS)	\$766	,	\$(744)	\$1,390	\$(3,273)
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:							
Continuing operations	\$0.06		\$(0.05)	\$0.11	\$(0.25)
Discontinued operations			(0.01)		(0.01)
Net income (loss)	\$0.06		\$(0.06)	\$0.11	\$(0.26)
BASIC SHARES OUTSTANDING	12,596		12,532		12,574	12,514	
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:							
Continuing operations	\$0.06		\$(0.05)	\$0.11	\$(0.25)
Discontinued operations			(0.01)		(0.01)
Net income (loss)	\$0.06		\$(0.06)	\$0.11	\$(0.26)
DILUTED SHARES OUTSTANDING	12,648		12,532		12,624	12,514	
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE:							
Common Stock	_						
Class B Common Stock	_						
See accompanying notes to the consolidated condensed financial	statements.						

Table of Contents

4

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands)

	Six Months Er July 2, 2011		a 26, 2010	
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES	July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010		
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$1,452	\$(3,143)		
Loss from discontinued operations	\$1,432 (62) (130	1	
Net income (loss)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	, , ,	1	
Net meome (loss)	1,390	(3,273)	1	
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used in) provided by				
operating activities:				
Depreciation and amortization	4,879	5,930		
Change in deferred income taxes	530	(2,116))	
Net gain on property, plant and equipment disposals	(2) (8)	
Stock-based compensation expense	373	497		
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Receivables	(1,995) 2,176		
Inventories	(10,464) (4,010))	
Other current assets	(2,263) 359		
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	3,043	4,448		
Other operating assets and liabilities	(1,181) 103		
NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES	(5,690) 4,106		
	(3,0)0) 1,100		
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES				
Net proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment	2	10		
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	(2,140) (247))	
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES	(2,138) (237)	,	
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES				
	12 500	45		
Net borrowings on credit line Payments on term loan	12,509			
•	(879) (753)	1	
Payments on equipment financing	(1,315) (1,437)	1	
Payments on capitalized leases	(204) (735)	1	
Payments on mortgage note payable	(176) (140)	1	
Payments on note payable	(374) (236)	+	
Payments on subordinated indebtedness	(2,500) (2,500)	1	
Change in outstanding checks in excess of cash	801	1,966		
Common stock acquired for treasury	(127) (46)	1	
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES	7,735	(3,836)	1	
(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	(93) 33		
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD	244	56		
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD	\$151	\$89		
		T T		
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:				
Interest paid	\$1,887	\$2,260		
Income taxes paid (received), net of tax refunds	91	(6,953))	

See accompanying notes to the consolidated condensed financial statements.

Table of Contents

5

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) NOTE A - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited consolidated condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial statements which do not include all the information and footnotes required by such accounting principles for annual financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (generally consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included in the accompanying financial statements. The accompanying financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the fiscal year ended December 25, 2010. Operating results for the three month and six month periods ended July 2, 2011 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the entire 2011 year. The six months ended July 2, 2011 contains 27 weeks compared with 26 weeks for the six months ended June 26, 2010.

The Company evaluated subsequent events through the date the financial statements were issued.

The Company is in one line of business, carpet manufacturing.

NOTE B - RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2010-6, Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements. This ASU amends the reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of Level 3 recurring fair value measurements to present information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross basis rather than as a net number. The ASU was effective beginning in the first quarter of 2011. Because this ASU impacted disclosure requirements only, its adoption did not have a material effect on the Company's Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-4, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This ASU represents the converged guidance of the FASB and the IASB ("the Boards") on fair value measurement. The collective efforts of the Boards and their staffs have resulted in common requirements, including a consistent meaning of the term "fair value." The Boards have concluded the common requirements will result in greater comparability of fair value measurements presented and disclosed in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and IFRS. The ASU is effective during interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011 and its adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-5, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income. This ASU allows an entity the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In both options, an entity is required to present each component of net income along with total net income, each component of other comprehensive income along with a total for other comprehensive income, and a total amount for comprehensive income. This ASU eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders' equity. The amendments do not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income. The ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011 and its adoption will require the Company to remove the components of other comprehensive income from statement of

changes in stockholders' equity and present them as provided for in one of the two available options.

NOTE C - STOCK COMPENSATION EXPENSE

The Company recognizes compensation expense relating to share-based payments based on the fair value of the equity issued and records such expense in selling and administrative expenses in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements. The number of shares to be issued is determined by dividing the specified dollar value of the award by the market value per share on the grant date. Pursuant to a policy adopted by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors applicable to awards granted for years subsequent to 2008, \$5.00 per share will be used as the market value per share to calculate the number of shares to be issued if the market value per share is less than \$5.00 per share on the grant date.

The Company's stock compensation expense was \$200 and \$373 for the three and six months ended July 2, 2011 and \$262 and \$497 for the three and six months ended June 26, 2010, respectively.

On March 14, 2011, the Company granted 91,340 shares of restricted stock to officers and other key employees. The grant-date fair value of the awards was \$417, or \$4.565 per share, and will be recognized as stock compensation expense over the vesting periods which range from 2 to 16 years from the date the awards were granted. Each award is subject to a continued

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

service condition. The fair value of each share of restricted stock awarded was equal to the market value of a share of the Company's Common Stock on the grant date.

NOTE D - RECEIVABLES

Receivables are summarized as follows:

	July 2, 2011	December 25, 2010
Customers, trade	\$30,181	\$27,084
Other receivables	941	1,932
Gross receivables	31,122	29,016
Less allowance for doubtful accounts	(577) (466)
Net receivables	\$30,545	\$28,550

The Company had notes receivable in the amount of \$339 and \$419 at July 2, 2011 and December 25, 2010, respectively. The current portions of notes receivable are included in other receivables above and the non-current portions are included in other assets in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.

NOTE E - INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method, which generally matches current costs of inventory sold with current revenues, for substantially all inventories. Inventories are summarized as follows:

	July 2, 2011	December 25, 2	010
Raw materials	\$23,309	\$18,144	
Work-in-process	15,138	11,417	
Finished goods	45,749	36,959	
Supplies, repair parts and other	344	326	
LIFO reserve	(15,787) (8,557)
Total inventories	\$68,753	\$58,289	
NOTE F - ACCRUED EXPENSES			

Accrued expenses are summarized as follows:

	July 2, 2011	December 25, 2010
Compensation and benefits	\$5,123	\$4,587
Provision for customer rebates, claims and allowances	4,566	5,053
Outstanding checks in excess of cash	3,164	2,363
Other	5,382	6,443
Total accrued expenses	\$18,235	\$18,446

NOTE G - PRODUCT WARRANTY RESERVES

The Company generally provides product warranties related to manufacturing defects and specific performance standards for its products. At the time sales are recorded, the Company records reserves for the estimated costs of defective products and failure of its products to meet applicable performance standards. The level of reserves the

Company establishes is based primarily upon historical experience, including the level of sales and evaluation of pending claims. Product warranty reserves are included in accrued expenses in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets. The following is a summary of the Company's warranty reserve activity:

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

	Three Months Ended		Six Months Ended				
	July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010		July 2, 2011		June 26, 2010	
Warranty reserve beginning of period	\$1,449	\$774		\$1,472		\$755	
Warranty liabilities accrued	828	704		1,613		1,366	
Warranty liabilities settled	(813) (703)	(1,581)	(1,419)
Changes for pre-existing warranty liabilities	(216) 132		(256)	205	
Warranty reserve end of period	\$1,248	\$907		\$1,248		\$907	

NOTE H - LONG-TERM DEBT AND CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS

Long-term debt consists of the following:

	July 2, 2011	December 25, 20)10
Senior indebtedness:			
Credit line borrowings	\$43,012	\$30,503	
Term loan	10,445	11,324	
Equipment financing	2,827	4,142	
Capital lease obligations	606	810	
Mortgage note payable	5,560	5,736	
Notes payable	164	538	
Total senior indebtedness	62,614	53,053	
Convertible subordinated debentures	9,662	12,162	
Total long-term debt	72,276	65,215	
Less: current portion of convertible subordinated debentures	(9,662) (2,500)
Less: current portion of senior indebtedness	(3,458) (4,367)
Less: current portion of capital lease obligations	(150) (278)
Total long-term debt, less current portion	\$59,006	\$58,070	

On June 6, 2011, the Company amended its senior loan and security agreement to increase the revolver commitments under the loan agreement from \$55,000 to \$65,000. The increase in the revolver commitments was in response to the Company's increasing business activity. No other terms of the loan agreement have been changed.

The Company's amended and restated senior loan and security agreement, which matures on May 11, 2013, provides \$75,445 of credit, consisting of \$65,000 of revolving credit and a \$10,445 term loan. These credit facilities do not contain ongoing financial covenant tests. The level of accounts receivable and inventory limit the borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility.

The Company's amended and restated senior loan and security agreement, which matures on May 11, 2013, will accelerate if the Company fails, by January 15, 2012, to either (a) repay the Company's 7% convertible subordinated debentures or (b) refinance the debentures as contemplated by the Company's senior loan and security agreement and establish a reserve equal to such debentures' then outstanding principal balance plus accrued interest. Although the Company believes cash availability will be sufficient to satisfy the above obligation through either internally generated cash flow or refinancing, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to repay the debentures, attain such refinancing, or have adequate reserves as required by the loan agreement. The unused borrowing capacity under the senior loan and security agreement on July 2, 2011 was \$11,313.

NOTE I - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the exchange value of an asset or a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. The fair value guidance outlines a valuation framework and establishes a fair value hierarchy in order to increase the consistency and comparability of fair value measurements and disclosures. The hierarchy consists of three levels as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reported date;

Level 2 - Other than quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, quoted prices for similar assets and

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, and other than quoted prices for assets or liabilities and prices that are derived principally from or corroborated by market data by correlation or other means; and

Level 3 - Measurements using management's best estimate of fair value, where the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.

The Company's interest rate swaps are measured under the fair value guidance. The following table summarizes the hierarchy level the Company used to determine fair value of its interest rate swaps as of July 2, 2011:

	Balance at	Fair Value Hierar	rchy Level		
	July 2, 2011	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	
Liabilities:					
Interest rate swaps	\$770		\$770		

The fair value of the interest rate swaps was obtained from external sources and was determined through the use of models that employ various assumptions and relevant economic factors.

The Company's financial instruments are not held or issued for trading purposes. The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments are summarized as follows:

	July 2, 2011		December 25,	, 2010		
	Carrying Fair		Carrying	Fair		
	Amount	Value	Amount	Value		
Financial assets:						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$151	\$151	\$244	\$244		
Notes receivable, including current portion	339	339	419	419		
Financial Liabilities:						
Long-term debt and capital leases, including current	72,276	74.029	65.215	67,609		
portion	12,210	74,022	05,215	07,007		
Interest rate swaps	770	770	873	873		

The fair values of the Company's long-term debt and capital leases were estimated using market rates the Company believes would be available for similar types of financial instruments. The fair values of cash and cash equivalents and notes receivable approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term nature of the financial instruments.

The Company's earnings, cash flows and financial position are exposed to market risks relating to interest rates. It is the Company's policy to minimize its exposure to adverse changes in interest rates and manage interest rate risks inherent in funding the Company with debt. The Company addresses this financial exposure through a risk management program that includes maintaining a mix of fixed and floating rate debt and the use of interest rate swaps to minimize interest rate volatility. The Company does not hold speculative financial instruments, nor does it hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges relate to specific liabilities on the Company's Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheet. The Company assesses, both at inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in the hedging transaction are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items. When it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective or the derivative expires, is sold, terminated or exercised, the Company discontinues hedge accounting for that specific hedge instrument. The Company recognizes all derivatives on its Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheet at fair value. Changes in the fair value of effective cash flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCIL") and reclassified into earnings in the same periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are not effective hedges are recognized in income.

The Company was a party to an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of \$30,000 through May 11, 2010. Under this interest rate swap agreement, the Company paid a fixed rate of interest of 4.79% times the notional amount and received in return a specified variable rate of interest times the same notional amount. The interest rate swap agreement hedged the Company's variable rate interest payments and was considered a highly effective hedge.

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

On April 7, 2010, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of \$25,000 effective May 11, 2010 through May 11, 2013. The Company did not designate this derivative instrument as a cash flow hedge and as a result recognized the fair value of this instrument in earnings. Under this interest rate swap agreement, the Company paid a fixed rate of interest of 2.38% times the notional amount and received in return a specified variable rate of interest times the same notional amount. Due to a significant drop in rates, the Company terminated the agreement in July 2010 and paid a termination fee of \$300 which represented the fair value of the instrument. The Company entered into another interest rate swap agreement designated as a cash flow hedge with a notional amount of \$25,000 effective July 11, 2010 through May 11, 2013. Under this interest rate swap agreement, the Company pays a fixed rate of interest of 1.42% times the notional amount and receives in return a specified variable rate of interest times the same notional amount and receives in return a specified variable rate of interest times the same notional amount and receives in return a specified variable rate of interest of 1.42% times the notional amount and receives in return a specified variable rate of interest times the same notional amount.

The Company is also a party to an interest rate swap agreement through March 2013, which is linked to a mortgage and considered a highly effective hedge. Under the interest rate swap agreement, the Company pays a fixed rate of interest times a notional amount equal to the outstanding balance of the mortgage, and receives in return an amount equal to a specified variable rate of interest times the same notional amount. At July 2, 2011, the notional amount of the interest rate swap agreement was \$5,560. Under the terms of the interest rate swap agreement, the Company pays a fixed rate of interest through March 2013, which effectively fixes the interest rate on the mortgage at 6.54%.

The following table summarizes the fair values of derivative instruments included in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets:

	Liability Derivatives				
	July 2, 2011	December 25, 2010			
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:					
Interest rate swaps:					
Accrued expenses	\$515	\$495			
Other long-term liabilities	255	378			
Total	770	873			

The following tables summarize the pre-tax impact of derivative instruments on the Company's financial statements:

	Three Months Ended Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in AOCI on Derivative (effective portion)			Six Months Ended Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in AOCI on Derivative (effective portion)			
Derivatives designated as hadging	July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010		July 2, 2011	Ju	une 26, 2010	
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:							
Cash flow hedges - interest rate swaps	\$(258) \$(108)	\$(214) \$(205)
	Three Months Ended Amount of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from AOCI into Income (effective portion) (1) (2)			Six Months Ended Amount of Gain or (Loss) Reclassified from AOCI into Income (effective portion) (1) (2)			

	July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010		July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010	
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:						
Cash flow hedges - interest rate swaps	\$(137) \$(233)	\$(277) \$(643)	
	Three Months Ended Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income on			Six Months Ended Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income on		
	Derivative (i portion)(3)	neffective		Derivative (ineffective portion)(3)		
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments	July 2, 2011	June 26, 201	0	July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010	
Cash flow hedges - interest rate swaps	\$(1) \$—		\$1	\$—	
Table of Contents 10						

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

	Three Months Ended			Six Months Ended			
	Amount of Gain or (Loss)			Amount of Gain or (Loss)			
	Recognized in Income on			Recognized in Income on			
	Derivative (3)			Derivative (3)			
	July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010		July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010		
Derivatives not designated as hedging							
instruments:							
Interest rate swap	\$—	\$(300)	\$—	\$(300)	

(1) The amount of gain (loss) reclassified from AOCIL is included in interest expense on the Company's Consolidated Condensed Statements of Operations.

(2) The amount of loss expected to be reclassified from AOCIL into earnings during the next 12 months subsequent to July 2, 2011 is \$515.

(3) The amount of gain (loss) recognized in income on the ineffective portion of interest rate swaps is included in other expense on the Company's Consolidated Condensed Statements of Operations.

NOTE J - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors two 401(k) defined contribution plans covering substantially all associates. The Company generally matches participants' contributions, on a sliding scale, up to a maximum of 5% of the participant's earnings. The Company did not match participants' contributions for one of the two 401(k) plans for the 2010 plan year and has no current plan to match contributions for the same plan for the 2011 plan year. In addition to the discretionary match for this plan, the plan also provides for an additional Company contribution if the Company attains certain performance targets. Matching contributions for the 401(k) plan, for which the match was applicable, were \$25 and \$30 for the three months ended July 2, 2011 and June 26, 2010, respectively and \$48 and \$52 for the six months ended July 2, 2011 and June 26, 2010, respectively.

The Company sponsors a non-qualified retirement savings plan that allows eligible associates to defer a specified percentage of their compensation. The obligations owed to participants under this plan were \$11,589 at July 2, 2011 and \$11,650 at December 25, 2010 and are included in other long-term liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets. The obligations are unsecured general obligations of the Company and the participants have no right, interest or claim in the assets of the Company, except as unsecured general creditors. The Company utilizes a Rabbi Trust to hold, invest and reinvest deferrals and contributions under the plan. Amounts are invested in company-owned life insurance in the Rabbi Trust and the cash surrender value of the policies was \$11,864 at July 2, 2011 and \$11,544 at December 25, 2010 and is included in other assets in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Balance Sheets.

The Company is a contributing employer in a multi-employer pension plan. Expenses related to the multi-employer pension plan were \$74 and \$61 for the three months ended July 2, 2011 and June 26, 2010, respectively and \$146 and \$122 for the six months ended July 2, 2011 and June 26, 2010, respectively.

The Company sponsors a legacy postretirement benefit plan that provides life insurance to a limited number of associates as a result of a prior acquisition. The Company also sponsors a postretirement benefit plan that provides

medical insurance for a limited number of associates who retired prior to January 1, 2003 and life insurance to a limited number of associates upon retirement.

Components of net periodic benefit cost for all postretirement plans are summarized as follows:

Three Months	Ended	Six Months Ended			
July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010	July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010		
\$2	\$—	\$4	\$—		
6	—	13	—		
(22) (22)	(45) (44)		
(7) (13)	(15) (26)		
\$(21) \$(35)	\$(43) \$(70)		
	July 2, 2011 \$2 6 (22 (7	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	July 2, 2011 June 26, 2010 July 2, 2011 \$2 \$ \$4 6 13 (22) (22) (45 (7) (13) (15		

Amounts contributed or expected to be contributed by the Company during the current fiscal year to its postretirement plans are not anticipated to be significantly different from amounts disclosed in the Company's 2010 Annual Report filed on Form 10-K.

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

NOTE K - INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for uncertainty in income tax positions according to FASB guidance relating to uncertain tax positions. Unrecognized tax benefits were \$47 at July 2, 2011. Due to the Company's valuation allowances, such benefits, if recognized, would not affect the Company's effective tax rate. There were no significant interest or penalties accrued as of July 2, 2011. The Company does not expect its unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly during the next twelve months. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions, if any, in income tax expense.

The following is a summary of the change in the Company's unrecognized tax benefits:

	Six Months Ende	d
	July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010
Balance at beginning of period	\$47	\$52
Additions based on tax positions taken during a prior period		
Reductions related to settlement of tax matters		—
Reductions related to a lapse of applicable statute of limitations		—
Balance at end of period	\$47	\$52

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to United States federal income taxes, as well as income taxes in a number of state jurisdictions. The tax years subsequent to 2003 remain open to examination for U.S. federal income taxes. The majority of state jurisdictions remain open for tax years subsequent to 2006. A few state jurisdictions remain open to examination for tax years subsequent to 2005.

During the six months ended July 2, 2011, the Company's effective income tax rate was affected by the inclusion of a \$492 non-taxable settlement gain associated with a company-owned insurance policy.

NOTE L - COMMON STOCK AND EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:

	Three Months Ended			Six Months En	d			
	July 2, 2011		June 26, 2010		July 2, 2011		June 26, 2010	
Basic earnings (loss) per share:								
Net income (loss)	\$766		\$(744)	\$1,390		\$(3,273)
Less: Allocation of earnings to participating securities	(18)			(33)		
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders - basic	\$748		\$(744)	\$1,357		\$(3,273)
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding (1) 12,596		12,532		12,574		12,514	
Basic earnings (loss) per share	\$0.06		\$(0.06)	\$0.11		\$(0.26)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:								
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders - basic	\$748		\$(744)	\$1,357		\$(3,273)

Add: Undistributed earnings reallocated to						
unvested shareholders						
Net income (loss) available to common	\$748	\$(744)	\$1,357	\$(3,273)
shareholders - basic	\$740	φ(/++)	φ1,557	$ $)
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding (1) 12,596	12,532		12,574	12,514	
Effect of dilutive securities:						
Stock options (2)	2			2		
Directors' stock performance units (2)	50	_		48		
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding	12,648	12,532		12,624	12,514	
(1)(2)	12,040	12,332		12,024	12,314	
Diluted earnings (loss) per share	\$0.06	\$(0.06)	\$0.11	\$(0.26)
Table of Contents						

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

(1) Includes Common and Class B Common shares, less shares held in treasury, in thousands.
 Because their effects are anti-dilutive, shares issuable under stock option plans where the exercise price is greater than the average market price of the Company's Common Stock at the end of the relevant period, unvested
 (2) restricted stock deemed to be participating securities, directors' stock performance units, and shares issuable on

(2) restricted stock deemed to be participating securities, directors stock performance units, and shares issuable on conversion of subordinated debentures into shares of Common Stock have been excluded. Aggregate shares excluded were 1,391 and 1,430, respectively during the three and six months of 2011 and 1,643 and 1,679, respectively during the three and six months of 2010.

NOTE M - COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Comprehensive income (loss) is as follows:

r	Three Months Ended			Six Months Ended				2010		
	July 2, 2011		June 26, 2010		July 2, 2011		June 26, 2010			
Net income (loss)	\$766		\$(744)	\$1,390		\$(3,273)		
Other comprehensive income (loss):										
Unrealized loss from interest rate swaps:										
Before income taxes	(258)	(108)	(214)	(205)		
Income taxes	(98)	(41)	(81)	(78)		
Net of taxes	(160)	(67)	(133)	(127)		
Reclassification into earnings from interest										
rate swaps:										
Before income taxes	137		233		277		643			
Income taxes	52		88		105		244			
Net of taxes	85		145		172		399			
Amount of gain (loss) recognized on										
ineffective portion of interest rate swaps:										
Before income taxes	(1)			1					
Income taxes							_			
Net of taxes	(1)			1					
Recognition of net actuarial gain on										
postretirement benefit plans:										
Before income taxes	(7)	(13)	(15)	(26)		
Income taxes	(3)	(5)	(6)	(10)		
Net of taxes	(4)	(8)	(9)	(16)		
Amortization of prior service credits on										
postretirement benefit plans:										
Before income taxes	(22)	(22)	(45)	(44)		
Income taxes	(8)	(9)	(17)	(17)		
Net of taxes	(14	Ĵ	(13)	(28)	(27)		
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$672		\$(687)	\$1,393		\$(3,044)		

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

Components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, are as follows:

	Interest Rate	Post-Retireme Liabilities	nt Total	
D 1 (D 1 05 0010	Swaps		¢ (21	``
Balance at December 25, 2010	\$(514)	\$ 483	\$(31)
Unrealized loss from interest rate swaps, net of tax of \$81	(133)		(133)
Reclassification into earnings from interest rate swaps, net of tax of \$105	172	_	172	
Amount of gain (loss) recognized on ineffective portion of interest rate swaps, net of tax of \$0	1	_	1	
Recognition of net actuarial gain on postretirement benefit plans, net of tax of \$6	f	(9) (9)
Amortization of prior service credits on postretirement benefit plans, net of tax of \$17	—	(28) (28)
Balance at July 2, 2011	\$(474)	\$ 446	\$(28)

NOTE N - OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE

Other (income) expense is summarized as follows:

	Three Months Ended			Six Months Ended				
	July 2, 2011		June 26, 2010		July 2, 2011		June 26, 2010	
Other operating income:								
Insurance proceeds (1)	\$—		\$—		\$(492)	\$—	
Gain on sale of operating assets	(1)	(8)	(2)	(8)
Miscellaneous income	(54)	(53)	(135)	(112)
Other operating income	\$(55)	\$(61)	\$(629)	\$(120)
Other operating expense:								
Retirement expenses	\$85		\$86		\$156		\$197	
Miscellaneous expense	12		5		23		23	
Other operating expense	\$97		\$91		\$179		\$220	
Other income:								
Miscellaneous income	\$(8)	\$(10)	\$(32)	\$(22)
Other income	\$(8)	\$(10)	\$(32)	\$(22)
Other expense:								
Loss on interest rate swap	\$—		\$300		\$—		\$300	
Miscellaneous expense	18		7		26		17	
Other expense	\$18		\$307		\$26		\$317	

(1) The Company recognized a settlement gain of \$492 from a company-owned insurance policy.

NOTE O - FACILITY CONSOLIDATION AND SEVERANCE EXPENSES, NET

In response to the difficult economic conditions, the Company began consolidating its Eton, Georgia carpet tufting operation into its Atmore, Alabama tufting, dyeing and finishing facility beginning in the fourth quarter of 2008. This was substantially completed in the first quarter of 2009. The Company also made organizational and other changes designed to reduce staff and expenses throughout the Company. In addition, the Company consolidated its Santa Ana, California tufting plant, a leased facility, into its Santa Ana, California dyeing, finishing and distribution facility, a facility owned by the Company, which was completed during the fourth quarter of 2009. Also, in 2009, the leased facility was vacated and the Company recorded the estimated costs related to fulfillment of its contractual lease obligations and on-going facilities maintenance, net of an estimate of sub-lease expectations. During June 2011, the Company terminated the lease and paid a termination fee of \$700. There are no remaining costs to be incurred under this plan.

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

Costs related to the 2008 Facilities Consolidation Plan are summarized as follows:

					As of July 2, 2	2011
	Accrued Balance at Dec. 25, 2010	2011 Expenses To Date	2011 Cash Payments	Accrued Balance at July 2, 2011	Total Costs Incurred To Date	Total Expected Costs
Equipment and inventory relocation	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$3,193	\$3,193
Severance pay and employee relocation	_	_	_	_	1,095	1,095
Leased facilities - obligations Totals	1,626 \$1,626	(551) \$(551)	(1,075) \$(1,075)		1,664 \$5,952	1,664 \$5,952

In August 2009, the Company developed and began implementing a plan to realign its organizational structure in the third and fourth quarters of 2009. Under this plan, the Company combined its three residential carpet units into one business with three distinct brands. As a result, the Company's residential business is organized much like its commercial carpet business and more like the rest of the industry. Costs related to the organization realignment included severance costs, associate relocation expenses and costs related to the migration of certain computer applications necessary to support the realignment. There are no remaining costs to be incurred under this plan.

Costs related to the 2009 Organization Restructuring Plan are summarized as follows:

					As of July 2, 2	2011
	Accrued Balance at Dec. 25, 2010	2011 Expenses To Date	2011 Cash Refunds (Payments)	Accrued Balance at July 2, 2011	Total Costs Incurred To Date	Total Expected Costs
Severance pay and employee relocation	\$9	\$(12)	\$3	\$—	\$969	\$969
Computer systems conversion cost	_	_	_	_	481	481
Totals	\$9	\$(12)	\$3	\$—	\$1,450	\$1,450

Expenses incurred under these plans are classified in "facility consolidation and severance expenses, net" in the Company's Consolidated Condensed Statements of Operations.

NOTE P - CONTINGENCIES

Environmental Remediation

The Company accrues for losses associated with environmental remediation obligations when such losses are probable and estimable. Remediation obligations are accrued based on the latest available information and are recorded at undiscounted amounts. The Company regularly monitors the progress of environmental remediation. Should studies

indicate that the cost of remediation has changed from the previous estimate, an adjustment to the liability would be recorded in the period in which such determination is made. As of July 2, 2011, the Company has an accrual of \$1,685 for environmental remediation obligations which relate to businesses accounted for in discontinued operations. (See Note Q)

Other Matters

The Company assesses its exposure related to legal matters, including those pertaining to product liability, safety and health matters and other items that arise in the regular course of its business. If the Company determines that it is probable a loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss, or an amount within the range of loss, that can be reasonably estimated will be recorded.

THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (dollars in thousands, except per share data) (Cont'd.)

NOTE Q - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Company has previously either sold or discontinued certain operations that are accounted for as "Discontinued Operations" under the applicable accounting guidance. The Company has certain contingent obligations directly related to such operations, primarily related to self-insured workers' compensation and environmental liabilities. Costs related to these obligations for those businesses are classified as discontinued operations. Discontinued operations are summarized as follows:

	Three Months Ended			Six Months Ended		
	July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010		July 2, 2011	June 26, 2010	
Loss from discontinued operations:						
Before income taxes	\$(67) \$(89)	\$(99) \$(192)	
Income tax benefit	(25) (29)	(37) (62)	
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax	\$(42) \$(60)	\$(62) \$(130)	

Workers' Compensation

Undiscounted reserves are maintained for the self-insured workers' compensation obligations. Such reserves are reassessed on a quarterly basis. Pre-tax cost incurred for workers' compensation as a component of discontinued operations was \$0 and \$34 for the three months ended July 2, 2011 and June 26, 2010, respectively and \$23 and \$102 for the six months ended July 2, 2011 and June 26, 2010, respectively.

Environmental Remediation

Reserves for environmental remediation obligations are established on a undiscounted basis. The Company has ongoing expense at five previously owned sites that were associated with its discontinued textile businesses. Each of these sites contains relatively low levels of ground or ground water contaminants. Each site has a Corrective Action Plan ("CAP") with the applicable authoritative state regulatory body responsible for oversight for environmental compliance and the Company contracts with third party qualified environmental specialists for related remediation, monitoring and reporting for each location. The CAP for four of these sites involves natural attentuation (degradation of the contaminants through naturally occurring events) over periods currently estimated at 10 to 20 years and the CAP on the remaining site involves a pump and treat remediation process, currently estimated to be remediated over a period of 20 to 30 years.

Additionally, the Company has an environmental liability related to the property of a facility and related business that was sold in 2004. The CAP was approved in 2010 and is currently estimated to remediate over a 7 year period.

Pre-tax cost for environmental remediation obligations classified as discontinued operations was \$67 and \$55 for the three months ended July 2, 2011 and June 26, 2010, respectively and \$76 and \$90 for the six months ended July 2, 2011 and June 26, 2010, respectively.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

The following is presented to update the discussion of results of operations and financial condition included in our 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our critical accounting policies were outlined in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition in our 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. There have been no changes to those critical accounting policies subsequent to the date of that report.

OVERVIEW

Although we anticipate a slow recovery in the United States housing sector and new commercial construction, we believe our business is driven more by resale and remodeling of existing homes and commercial facilities. While our business was more deeply affected by the downturn as it reached the higher end markets where our business is concentrated, we believe our position in the upper-end of the markets has permitted us to benefit from improved conditions and grow our sales at a rate that has exceeded the rate of growth of the carpet industry, as and when economic conditions improve. The positive acceptance of a number of our higher-end products and the organizational realignment and cost reduction initiatives we implemented have positively affected our operational performance as evidenced by our results in each of our quarterly periods beginning in and subsequent to the fourth quarter of 2010, the first profitable quarter we experienced since the second quarter of 2008.

During the second quarter and first six months of 2011 compared with the corresponding periods of 2010, we experienced a rate of sales growth that exceeded the industry in both residential and commercial products.

We remain cautiously optimistic about conditions that affect the higher-end markets we serve. We have, as has the industry, implemented sales price increases to recoup the increases in certain raw material costs in 2011. Although all sales price increases we implemented were effective by the end of the second quarter of 2011, there was a lag effect between the costs increases and the sales price increases that differed across the various customer bases we serve.

FACILITY CONSOLIDATIONS AND COST REDUCTION PLANS

In response to the difficult economic conditions, we began consolidating our Eton, Georgia carpet tufting operation into our Atmore, Alabama tufting, dyeing and finishing facility beginning in the fourth quarter of 2008. This was substantially completed in the first quarter of 2009. We also made organizational and other changes designed to reduce staff and expenses throughout the Company. In addition, we consolidated our Santa Ana, California tufting plant, a leased facility, into our Santa Ana, California dyeing, finishing and distribution facility, a facility we own. The California facilities consolidation was completed during the fourth quarter of 2009 at which time the leased facility was vacated and we recorded the estimated costs related to fulfillment of our contractual lease obligations and on-going facilities maintenance, net of an estimate of sub-lease expectations. Each fiscal quarter we reassessed the remaining estimated costs for the contractual lease obligation associated with this facility and adjusted the reserve based upon current facts and circumstances. In May of 2011, the landlord sold the facility to a third party at which time we paid \$700 thousand to fulfill our obligations under the lease that was set to expire in December 2012. Upon settlement of our obligations under the lease, we recorded a gain of \$563 thousand reflecting a reduction in our previously accrued estimated net obligations.

Including the \$563 thousand lease termination gain recognized in the second quarter, expenses incurred for the consolidation and organizational changes associated with the 2008 facilities consolidation and cost reduction plan

were \$6.0 million since inception in the third quarter of 2008. Cost recognized included \$3.2 million of costs to consolidate facilities, \$1.1 million of severance and employee relocation expenses and \$1.7 million of costs associated with the exit of our leased facility in Santa Ana, California.

During the third quarter of 2009, we developed and began implementing a plan to realign our organizational structure. Under this plan, we combined our three residential carpet units into one business with three distinct brands. As a result, our residential business is organized much like our commercial carpet business and more like the rest of the industry. Costs related to the organization realignment include severance costs, associate relocation expenses and costs related to the migration of certain computer applications necessary to support the realignment. The realignment was substantially complete in the fourth quarter of 2009 and all costs have been recorded including an expense reduction of \$12 thousand in 2011 related to previously accrued associate relocation expenses. Total costs incurred under this realignment plan were \$1.5 million.

These actions had a positive impact on our results and we believe have resulted in additional improvements in operational capabilities, increased fixed cost absorption and further facilitated other cost reductions.

In addition to the facilities consolidations described above, employee reductions and the organizational realignment, we suspended our match of certain 401(k) contributions for 2009 and lowered the compensation of our exempt salaried associates in March 2009. We have currently not reinstated the 401(k) match, although salaries were restored to the pre-reduction levels in January 2011.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our second quarters of 2011 and 2010 each contained 13 operating weeks. Our first quarter of 2011 contained 14 operating weeks compared with 13 operating weeks in first quarter of 2010; therefore, the first six months of 2011 contained 27 operating weeks compared with 26 operating weeks in the first six months of 2010. Discussions below related to percentage changes in net sales for the six month periods have been adjusted to reflect the comparable number of weeks in the first quarter reporting period and are qualified with the term "net sales as adjusted". We believe "net sales as adjusted" will assist our financial statement users in understanding the rate of growth in our business in the comparative periods. (See reconciliation of net sales to net sales as adjusted in the table below.)

Reconciliation of Net Sales to Net Sales as Adjusted

	Six Months Ended			
	July 2, June 26, Percen			
	2011	2010	Increase	
Net sales	\$135,154	\$109,512	23.4	%
Adjustment to net sales:				
Impact of shipping weeks	(4,711)			
Net sales as adjusted	\$130,443	\$109,512	19.1	%

The following table sets forth certain elements of our continuing operating results as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated:

	Three M	onths E	Ended		Six Mo	nths En	nded	
	July 2,		June 26,		July 2,		June 26,	
	2011		2010		2011		2010	
Net sales	100.0	%	100.0	%	100.0	%	100.0	%
Cost of sales	75.8	%	74.2	%	75.4	%	74.8	%
Gross profit	24.2	%	25.8	%	24.6	%	25.2	%
Selling and administrative expense	21.6	%	25.4	%	22.4	%	26.8	%
Other operating income	(0.1)%	(0.1)%	(0.4)%	(0.1)%
Other operating expense	0.2	%	0.2	%	0.1	%	0.2	%
Facility consolidation and severance expenses, net	(0.8)%	0.2	%	(0.4)%	0.3	%
Operating income (loss)	3.3	%	0.1	%	2.9	%	(2.0)%

Net Sales. Net sales for the quarter ended July 2, 2011 were \$69.2 million compared with net sales of \$59.1 million for the year-earlier quarter, or an increase of 17.2%. Net sales in the first six months of 2011 were \$135.2 million compared with net sales of \$109.5 million in the first six months of 2010, an increase of 23.4%, or 19.1%, on a "net sales as adjusted" basis. In the second quarter of 2011, residential carpet sales reflected an increase of 15.6% and net sales of commercial carpet increased 20.4%, respectively compared with the second quarter of 2010. Residential carpet sales increased 23.3%, or 19.0% on net sales as adjusted, and commercial net sales increased 23.4%, or 19.1% on net sales as adjusted, respectively in the first six months of 2011 compared with the first six months of 2010. Our residential sales in the second quarter and first six months of 2011, compared with the prior-year periods, included increased sales through mass merchant channels of distribution which are less predictable.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was 75.8% in the second quarter of 2011 compared with 74.2% in the second quarter of 2010. Cost of sales was 75.4% in the first six months of 2011 compared with 74.8% in the first six months of 2011. The increase in cost of sales as a percentage of sales in both the second quarter and first six months was primarily attributable to the effects of increases in the cost of raw materials where sales price increases

to recover such costs had not been fully realized by the end of our second quarter of 2011.

Gross Profit. Gross profit dollars increased \$1.5 million, or 9.8%, in the second quarter of 2011 compared with the second quarter 2010 and increased \$5.7 million, or 20.7%, in the first six months of 2011 compared with the same period in 2010 primarily reflecting the effects of the increased sales volume, the effects of the leverage on fixed costs from higher production levels and the cost reduction initiatives. In the second quarter and first six months of 2011, margins as a percentage of sales declined 1.6% and 0.6%, respectively compared with the 2010 periods primarily as a result of increased raw materials costs in the 2011 periods that had not been fully recouped by sales price increases during the periods. Additionally, our product mix was more heavily weighted to include certain lower margin residential and commercial products during the second quarter and first six months of 2011 compared with the same periods in 2010.

Selling and Administrative Expenses. Selling and administrative expenses decreased 3.8% as a percentage of sales in the second quarter of 2011 compared with the same period in 2010 and decreased 4.4% as a percentage of sales in the first six months of 2011 compared with the first six months of 2010. The lower selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales reflect the effect of our cost reduction initiatives and the leverage on the fixed components of selling and administrative costs from the higher sales volume. The first six months of 2011 included a charge of \$625 thousand of workers compensation expense for a work related injury.

Other Operating Income. Other operating income increased \$509 thousand in the first six months of 2011 compared with the first six months of 2010 primarily as a result of a settlement gain recognized in 2011 related to a company-owned insurance policy.

Other Operating Expense. Other operating expense decreased \$41 thousand in the first six months of 2011 compared with the same period in 2010. The decrease is primarily due to a lower level of retirement related expenses in 2011.

Facility Consolidation and Severance Expenses, Net. We fulfilled our lease agreement obligations associated with our California facility in the second quarter of 2011 resulting in the recognition of a \$563 thousand expense reduction to previously estimated contractual obligations under the lease agreement. During the second quarter and first six months of 2010, we recorded \$122 thousand and \$333 thousand; respectively, of expenses primarily related to associate relocation obligations and completion of computer systems modifications under our restructuring initiatives that were begun in 2008 and 2009.

Operating Income (Loss). We reported operating income of \$2.3 million in the second quarter of 2011 compared with operating income of \$59 thousand in the second quarter of 2010. Operating income was \$4.0 million in the first six months of 2011 compared with an operating loss of \$2.2 million in the first six months of 2010. The operating results included a gain of \$563 thousand from facilities consolidation and severance expenses in the second quarter and first six months of 2011 compared with net expenses of \$122 thousand and \$333 thousand respectively, in the second quarter and first six months of 2010.

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased \$182 thousand in the second quarter of 2011 and \$485 thousand for the first six months of 2011, respectively compared with the same periods in 2010. The reductions are principally a result of lower interest rates in the 2011 periods compared with the 2010 periods.

Other Income. Other income was not significant in the second quarter or first six months of either 2011 or 2010.

Other Expense. Other expense was not significant in either the second quarter or first six months of 2011. Other expense in the second quarter and first six months of 2010 included \$300 thousand of expense related to the termination of an interest rate swap agreement.

Income Tax Provision (Benefit). Our effective income tax provision rate was 41.9% in the second quarter of 2011 compared with a benefit rate of 48.2% in the second quarter of 2010. The effective tax rate in the second quarter of 2011 differed from statutory rates primarily as a result of the estimated effects of a reduction in certain manufacturing related tax deductions and a lower utilization of valuation allowances related to state income tax items. The tax benefit rate in the second quarter of 2010 differed from statutory rates primarily due to the recognition of additional deferred tax assets at our rate applicable to deferred items compared with the tax rate for items that were currently payable. The tax rate for the first six months of 2011 differed from statutory rates principally as a result of a non-taxable settlement gain in the first quarter of 2011 related to company-owned insurance and the effects of permanent differences on pre-tax earnings utilized in the tax calculations in the 2011 reporting period.

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations. Income from continuing operations was \$808 thousand, or \$0.06 per diluted share in the second quarter of 2011 compared with a loss from continuing operations of \$684 thousand, or \$0.05 per diluted share in the second quarter of 2010. Income from continuing operations was \$1.5 million, or \$0.11 per diluted share, for the first six months of 2011 compared with a loss from continuing operations of \$3.1 million, or \$0.25 per diluted share, in the first six months of 2010.

Net Income (Loss). Discontinued operations reflected a loss of \$42 thousand, or \$0.00 per diluted share, in the second quarter of 2011 compared with a loss of \$60 thousand, or \$0.01 per diluted share, in the same period in 2010. Discontinued operations reflected a loss of \$62 thousand, or \$0.00 per diluted share, in first the first six months of 2011 compared with a loss of \$130 thousand, or \$0.01 per diluted share, in the first six months of 2010. Including discontinued operations, net income was \$766 thousand, or \$0.06 per diluted share, in the second quarter of 2011 compared with a net loss of \$744 million, or \$0.06 per diluted share, in the second quarter of 2010. Net income was \$1.4 million, or \$0.11 per diluted share, in the first six months of 2011 compared with a net loss of \$3.3 million, or \$0.26 per diluted share, in the comparable six month period in 2010.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

During the six months ended July 2, 2011, debt increased \$7.1 million. Additionally, we generated \$801 thousand of funds from checks issued in excess of cash utilized. During this period, \$5.7 million of these funds were used in operating activities, \$2.1 million for purchases of property, plant and equipment and \$127 thousand was used to acquire our common stock for treasury.

Working capital increased \$4.3 million in the first six months of 2011. During this period, inventories increased \$10.5 million, principally to support our increased sales levels, trade accounts receivable increased \$2.0 million primarily due to an increase in sales and seasonably low accounts receivable at the end of 2010; while other current assets increased \$2.2 million related to product sales support. Accounts payable and accrued expenses increased \$3.8 million principally to support a higher level of sales and production. Our current portion of long-term debt increased \$6.1 million, primarily as a result of amounts due related to our subordinated debentures that mature in May of 2012.

Capital expenditures for the six months ended July 2, 2011 were \$2.1 million, while depreciation and amortization was \$4.9 million. Our planned capital expenditures are expected to be approximately \$6.2 million for fiscal 2011, while depreciation and amortization is expected to be approximately \$9.7 million. Planned capital expenditures in 2011 are primarily for new machinery and equipment.

Our amended and restated senior loan and security agreement, which matures on May 11, 2013, provides \$75.4 million of credit, consisting of \$65.0 million of revolving credit and a \$10.4 million term loan. These credit facilities do not contain ongoing financial covenant tests. The level of accounts receivable and inventory limit the borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility. Our amended and restated senior loan and security agreement will accelerate if we fail, by January 15, 2012, to either (a) repay our 7% convertible subordinated debentures or (b) refinance the debentures as contemplated by our senior loan and security agreement and establish a reserve equal to such debentures' then outstanding principal balance plus accrued interest. Although we believe cash availability will be sufficient to satisfy the above obligation through either internally generated cash flow or refinancing, there can be no assurance that we will be able to repay the debentures, attain such refinancing, or have adequate reserves as required by the loan agreement. The unused borrowing capacity under the senior loan and security agreement on July 2, 2011 was \$11.3 million.

We are currently in discussions with potential lenders regarding replacement financing of our current senior revolving credit and term loan and security agreement. We intend to replace our current long-term financing facility by January 15, 2012 as discussed above; although, there can be no assurance that this will occur.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2010-6, Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements. This ASU amends the reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of Level 3 recurring fair value measurements to present information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross basis rather than as a net number. The ASU was effective beginning in the first quarter of 2011. Because this ASU impacted disclosure requirements only, its adoption did not have a material effect on our Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-4, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This ASU represents the converged guidance of the FASB and the IASB ("the Boards") on fair value measurement. The collective efforts of the Boards and their staffs have resulted in common requirements, including a consistent meaning of the term "fair

value." The Boards have concluded the common requirements will result in greater comparability of fair value measurements presented and disclosed in financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and IFRS. The ASU is effective during interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011 and its adoption is not expected to have a material effect on our Consolidated Condensed Financial Statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-5, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentation of Comprehensive Income. This ASU allows an entity the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In both options, an entity is required to present each component of net income along with total net income, each component of other comprehensive income, and a total amount for comprehensive income. This ASU eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders' equity. The amendments do not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive income must be reclassified to net income. The ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011 and its adoption will require us to remove the components of other comprehensive income from statement of changes in stockholders' equity and present them as provided for in one of the two available options.

CERTAIN FACTORS AFFECTING THE COMPANY'S PERFORMANCE

In addition to the other information provided in this Report, the risk factors included in Item 1A should be considered when evaluating results of our operations, future prospects and an investment in shares of our Common Stock. Any of these factors could cause our actual financial results to differ materially from our historical results, and could give rise to events that might have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Report contains statements that may be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements include the use of terms or phrases that include such terms as "expects," "estimates," "projects," "believes," "anticipates," "intends," and similar terms and phrases. Such forward looking statements relate to, among other matters, our future financial performance, business prospects, growth strategies or liquidity. The following important factors may affect our future results and could cause those results to differ materially from our historical results; these factors include, in addition to those "Risk Factors" detailed in item 1A of this report and described elsewhere in this document, the cost and availability of capital, raw material and transportation costs related to petroleum price levels, the cost and availability of energy supplies, the loss of a significant customer or group of customers, materially adverse changes in economic conditions generally in carpet, rug and floor covering markets we serve and other risks detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk (Dollars in thousands)

Our earnings, cash flows and financial position are exposed to market risks relating to interest rates, among other factors. It is our policy to minimize our exposure to adverse changes in interest rates and manage interest rate risks inherent in funding our Company with debt. We address this financial exposure through a risk management program that includes maintaining a mix of fixed and floating rate debt and the use of interest rate swap agreements.

At July 2, 2011, we were a party to an interest rate swap agreement on our mortgage note payable with a notional amount equal to the outstanding balance of the mortgage note (\$5,560 at July 2, 2011) which expires in March of 2013. Under the interest rate swap agreement, we pay a fixed rate of interest times the notional amount and receive in return an amount equal to a specified variable rate of interest times the same notional amount. The swap agreement effectively fixes the interest rate on the mortgage note payable at 6.54%.

In July 2010, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of \$25,000 effective July 11, 2010 through May 11, 2013 which we designated as a cash flow hedge. Under this interest rate swap agreement, we pay a fixed rate of interest of 1.42% times the notional amount and receive in return a specified variable rate of interest times the same notional amount.

At July 2, 2011, \$28,458, or approximately 39% of our total debt, was subject to floating interest rates. A 10% fluctuation in the variable interest rates applicable to this floating rate debt would have an annual after-tax impact of approximately \$57.

Item 4 - Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission's rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to

allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such terms are defined in Rules 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") as of July 2, 2011, the date of the financial statements included in this Form 10-Q (the "Evaluation Date"). Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the Evaluation Date.

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during the quarter covered by this report that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because of its inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures, as well as diverse interpretation of U. S. generally accepted accounting principals by accounting professionals. It is also possible that internal control over financial reporting can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. Furthermore, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. These inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process; therefore, while it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce such risk, it is not possible to eliminate all risk.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1 - Legal Proceedings None.

Item 1A - Risk Factors

In addition to the other information provided in this Report, the following risk factors should be considered when evaluating results of our operations, future prospects and an investment in shares of our Common Stock. Any of these factors could cause our actual financial results to differ materially from our historical results, and could give rise to events that might have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The floorcovering industry is cyclical and prolonged declines in residential or commercial construction activity or corporate remodeling and refurbishment could have a material adverse effect on our business. Factors that affect such declines may include:

consumer confidence;
housing demand;
financing availability;
national and local economic conditions;
interest rates;
employment levels;
changes in disposable income;
commercial rental vacancy rates; and
federal and state income tax policies.

Our product concentration in the higher-end of the residential and commercial markets could significantly affect the impact of these factors on our business.

We have significant levels of sales in certain channels of distribution.

A significant amount of our sales are generated through certain retail and mass merchant channels of distribution. A significant reduction of sales through these channels could adversely affect our results.

We have significant levels of indebtedness that must be repaid or refinanced.

Our 7% convertible subordinated debentures must either be paid or refinanced and reserved by January 15, 2012. If these actions are not taken by that time, the payments on our amended and restated senior loan and security agreement will accelerate on that date rather than the current termination date of May 11, 2013. If our cash flow or profitability are insufficient, the value of our assets securing our loans are insufficient or we are unable to access the debt or equity markets at competitive rates or in sufficient amounts, it could materially adversely affect our ability to pay off or refinance our debts and generate sufficient funds to satisfy the terms of the debentures or the senior loan and security agreement.

We face intense competition in our industry, which could decrease demand for our products and could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.

The floorcovering industry is highly competitive. We face competition from a number of domestic manufacturers and independent distributors of floorcovering products and, in certain product areas, foreign manufacturers. There has been significant consolidation within the floorcovering industry during recent years that has caused a number of our existing and potential competitors to be significantly larger and have significantly greater resources and access to capital than we do. Maintaining our competitive position may require us to make substantial additional investments in our product development efforts, manufacturing facilities, distribution network and sales and marketing activities, which may be limited by our access to capital, as well as restrictions set forth in our credit facilities. Competitive pressures may also result in decreased demand for our products and in the loss of market share. In addition, we face, and will continue to face, pressure on sales prices of our products from competitors. As a result of any of these factors, there could be a material adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

Raw material prices may increase.

The cost of raw materials has a significant impact on our profitability. In particular, our business requires the purchase of large volumes of nylon and polyester yarn, as well as wool yarns, synthetic backing, latex, and dyes. Increases in the cost of these raw materials could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition if we are unable to pass these increases through to our customers. We believe we are successful in passing along raw material and other cost increases as they may occur; however, there can be no assurance that we will successfully recover such increases in cost.

Unanticipated termination or interruption of our arrangements with third-party suppliers of nylon yarn could have a material adverse effect on us.

Nylon yarn is the principal raw material used in our floorcovering products. A significant portion of such yarn is purchased from one supplier. We believe there are other sources of nylon yarns; however, an unanticipated termination or interruption of our supply arrangements could adversely affect our supply arrangements and could be material.

Environmental, safety and health regulatory governance.

Various federal, state and local environmental laws govern the use of our current and former facilities. These laws govern such matters as:

Discharges to air and water;

Handling and disposal of solid and hazardous substances and waste; and Remediation of contamination from releases of hazardous substances in our facilities and off-site disposal locations.

Our operations also are governed by laws relating to workplace safety and worker health, which, among other things, establish noise standards and regulate the use of hazardous materials and chemicals in the workplace. We have taken, and will continue to take, steps to comply with these laws. If we fail to comply with present or future environmental or safety regulations, we could be subject to future liabilities. However, we cannot ensure that complying with these environmental or health and safety laws and requirements will not adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Future laws, ordinances or regulations could give rise to additional compliance or remediation costs that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Acts of Terrorism.

Our business could be materially adversely affected as a result of international conflicts or acts of terrorism. Terrorist acts or acts of war may cause damage or disruption to our facilities, employees, customers, suppliers, and distributors, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. Such conflicts also may cause damage or disruption to transportation and communication systems and to our ability to manage logistics in such an environment, including receipt of supplies and distribution of products.

Unanticipated Business Interruptions.

Our business could be adversely affected if a significant portion of our plant, equipment or operations were damaged or interrupted by a casualty, condemnation, utility service, work stoppage or other event beyond our control. Such an event could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Item 2 - Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table provides information regarding our repurchases of shares of our Common Stock during the three months ended July 2, 2011:

Month Ending

Total Number ofAverage PriceShares PurchasedPaid Per Share

Total NumberMaximumof SharesNumber (orPurchased asapproximatePart of Publiclydollar value) of

			Announced	Shares That May
			Plans or	Yet Be Purchased
			Programs (1)	Under Plans or
				Programs
May 7, 2011		\$—		
June 4, 2011	—	—		
July 2, 2011		—		
Three Months Ended July 2, 2011		\$—	\$—	\$4,678,468

(1) On August 8, 2007, we announced a program to repurchase up to \$10 million of our Common Stock. There were no shares repurchased during the three months ended July 2, 2011.

Item 3 - Defaults Upon Senior Securities None.

Item 4 - (Removed and Reserved) None.

Item 5 - Other Information None.

Item 6 - Exhibits
(a.)Exhibits
31.1 CEO Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 CFO Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 CEO Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 CFO Certification pursuant to 18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 CFO Certification pursuant to 18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

	THE DIXIE GROUP, INC. (Registrant)
Date: August 11, 2011	By: /s/ JON A. FAULKNER Jon A. Faulkner Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: August 11, 2011	By: /s/ D. EUGENE LASATER D. Eugene Lasater Controller